STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County

Honorable Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

v.

CHRISTIAN ARENSON SCOWCROFT,

ORIGINAL
RECEIVED
RESPONDENT,
NOV 13 2018
SC Court of Appeals

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2017-001859

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial judge err in refusing to direct a verdict of acquittal when the State failed to present substantial circumstantial evidence which reasonably tended to prove or evidence from which it could be fairly and logically deduced that Appellant committed a burglary first degree and grand larceny?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In February of 2017, the Greenville County Grand Jury indicted Appellant, Christian Arenson Scowcroft, for burglary first degree and grand larceny, indictment #2017-GS-23-1278. On August 23, 2017, Appellant proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable Perry H. Gravely. Randall L. Chambers represented Appellant at trial. Brann Fowler prosecuted the case. The jury found Appellant guilty and Judge Gravely sentenced Appellant to fifteen (15) years for burglary first degree and one year concurrent for grand larceny. A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on September 5, 2017. This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“A case should be submitted to the jury when the evidence is circumstantial ‘if there is any substantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the accused or from which his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced.’” State v. Bostick, 392 S.C. 134, 139, 708 S.E.2d 774, 776 (2011) (quoting State v. Mitchell, 341 S.C. 406, 409, 535 S.E.2d 126, 127 (2000)). “Evidence must constitute positive proof of facts and circumstances which reasonably tends to prove guilt.” Id. “Unless there is a total failure of competent evidence as to the charges alleged, refusal by the trial judge to direct a verdict of acquittal is not error.” Id. at 139, 708 S.E.2d at 776-777. “On appeal of the denial of a directed verdict of acquittal, this Court must look at the evidence in the light most favorable to the state.” Id. at 139, 708 S.E.2d at 777; see also State v. Hepburn, 406 S.C. 416, 429 753 S.E.2d 402, 409 (2013). If the state failed to present any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove guilt of the accused, the appellate court must reverse the lower court’s denial of the directed verdict motion. Hepburn, 406 S.C. at 416, 429 S.E.2d at 409.

ARGUMENT

The trial judge erred in refusing to direct a verdict of acquittal when the State failed to present substantial circumstantial evidence which reasonably tended to prove or evidence from which it could be fairly and logically deduced that Appellant committed a burglary first degree and grand larceny.

On August 16, 2016, at 11:15 AM Harrison Golson came home from work for lunch to discover that someone had broken into his house through the backdoor and stolen two guns with accessories, video games and a PlayStation. (R. p. 33, lines 6-25). One of the guns was a Remington Model 700, .270 caliber rifle. (R. p. 37, lines 8-10). The other gun was a Browning .12 gauge shotgun. (R. p. 39, lines 20-22). A neighbor, Michael Nascarello, testified that on the morning of the burglary he saw an unfamiliar red Pontiac Sunfire parked in front of his house. (R. p. 45, line 19 – p. 46, lines 1-10). Later, when police showed Nascarello a photo of Appellant's red Volkswagen, he claimed that was the car he saw. (R. p. 55, lines 9-24). Nascarello also testified that he saw a lanky white guy with shaggy hair get into the red car. (R. p. 49, line 14 – p. 50, lines 1-24; p. 114, line 20 – p. 115, line 1). Appellant had close cropped hair. (R. p. 115, lines 2-4).

Appellant testified that on August 16, 2016, between noon and 1:00 PM, he returned home from his Dad's lake house at Lake Keowee where he spent the night with his girlfriend and her friend. (R. p. 170, line 1 – p. 171, lines 1-6). The night before he rode with his girlfriend to Greenville to pick up a friend of hers who had too much to drink. (R. p. 169, line 13 – p. 170, lines 1-2). Appellant left his house unlocked with his phone and keys on the table. (R. p. 170, lines 2-4). The three then drove, in the girlfriend's car, to the lake where they spent the night. They did not drive Appellant's red Volkswagen Jetta to the lake. (R. p. 170, lines 12-23).

Earlier, Appellant had asked his roommate, Britain Donahue, to move out and when Appellant and his girlfriend returned, they started packing Donahue's belongings. (R. p. 174, line 10 – p. 175, 176, lines 1-20). Appellant's girlfriend planned to move in and needed space. (R. p. 171, line 9 – p. 172, lines 1-10). While they were packing Donahue's things they found two guns and some electronics. (R. p. 176, lines 11-20). At trial Donahue agreed that in August of 2016, he had thick longer hair that could be shaggy. (R. p. 133, lines 1-15).

Donahue had not paid his share of the rent and told Appellant he did not care if they sold the guns and electronics. (R. p. 178, line 13 – p. 179, lines 1-2). Appellant testified that he sold a PlayStation to a GameStop store and the rifle to Traders Gun Shop. (R. p. 179, line 22 – p. 180, 181, lines 1-10). Appellant provided his identification when he sold both the rifle and the PlayStation. (R. p. 90, line 3 – p. 91, lines 1-4; p. 60, line 1 – p. 61, lines 1-24). An employee of Traders Gun Shop, George Nannarello, testified that a few days later Appellant returned and tried to sell them a shotgun. (R. p. 65, line 5 – p. 66, lines 1-5). Nannarello testified that he did not buy the shotgun because the rifle Appellant sold the store earlier had been reported as stolen. (R. p. 67, line 20 – p. 68, line 1). According to Nannarello, Appellant told him that both guns had been in his safe for years. (R. p. 68, lines 4-5). Appellant testified that he did not try to sell the shotgun at Traders Gun Shop. (R. p. 183, lines 12-25). Appellant testified that he sold the shotgun at a gun and knife show on August 18, 2016. (R. p. 182, line 1 – p. 183, lines 1-11).

Based on the information Appellant provided when he sold the rifle and PlayStation, Investigator Robert Grubbs with the Greenville County Sheriff's Department asked Appellant to come in for an interview. (R. p. 110, lines 1-13). Appellant called the Investigator and voluntarily came in for an interview on August 26, 2016. (R. p. 100, lines 8-18). A recording of the interview was introduced as State's Exhibit #20 and played for the jury without objection.

(R. p. 101, lines 11-19). The investigator had obtained an arrest warrant for Appellant prior to the interview. (R. p. 111, lines 20-23). Although Appellant told the investigator that he believed the guns and PlayStation belonged to his former roommate, Donahue, Appellant was arrested. (R. p. 104, line 13 – p. 105, 106, lines 1-23). The investigator was unable to contact Donahue. (R. p. 107, line 25 – p. 108, lines 1-18).

The police seized Appellant's phone when they arrested him. (R. p. 118, lines 16-23). Officer Dan Kelly with the Greenville County Sheriff's Department was qualified as an expert in using the GeoTime computer program to interpret cell phone data. (R. p. 151, lines 13 – p. 152, lines 1-13). According to Officer Kelly, when Appellant's cell phone was used between August 11, 2016 and August 16, 2016, the phone was not near Lake Keowee. (R. p. 153, line 11 – p. 154, 155, lines 1-2). The officer admitted he had no way of knowing who had possession of the phone during this time frame. (R. p. 155, lines 10-15).

Following Appellant's arrest, officers executed a search warrant of Appellant's home and seized a computer. (R. p. 139, lines 2-11). Deputy Michael Bryan with the Greenville County Sheriff's Department analyzed the hard drive of the computer. Deputy Bryan testified that on August 16, 2016, at 1:13 AM someone looked at Harrison Golson's Facebook page. (R. p. 144, lines 1-14). Additionally, the deputy testified that a Gmail account bearing Appellant's name received a message titled "Wells Fargo Transfer Cancelled due to Insufficient Funds." (R. p. 143, lines 16-22). According to the deputy, the message was viewed on August 16, 2016, at 9:23 AM. The deputy also testified that there were several searches for gun stores done on the afternoon of August 16, 2016. (R. p. 145, lines 1-8).

Appellant and Harrison Golson used to work together at AT&T. (R. p. 29, line 24 – p. 30, lines 1-6). On one occasion Appellant went to Golson's house to help him move a piece of

furniture. (R. p. 30, line 7 – p. 31, lines 1-16). Appellant testified that his roommate frequently used his car and on the day he helped Golson move the furniture, his roommate, Donahue, drove him to Golson's house and waited in the car while Appellant helped. (R. p. 230, line 22 – p. 231, 232, 233, lines 1-8; p. 234, line 20 – p. 235, 236, lines 1-13). At trial Golson testified that his dog was locked up when Appellant helped him move the furniture. Golson also testified that he kept the same schedule every day. (R. p. 31, line 17 – p. 32, lines 1-14).

At the close of the State's case Appellant moved for a directed verdict. (R. p. 156, line 19 – p. 157, lines 1-7). Appellant argued:

Your Honor, I would just say that there is no physical evidence of any kind and I would say that there is no evidence of any other kind that rises to any remote standard that the solicitor has to meet at this point considering all of the evidence in the light most favorable to the Solicitor. Certainly on the burglary, that he entered that home unlawfully or otherwise on the day this crime was supposed to have been committed. Likewise, as to the grand larceny, I think at best they could prove receiving stolen goods and, so, based on that we ask for a directed verdict.

(R. p. 156, line 19 – p. 157, lines 1-7). The State argued that the testimony identifying Appellant's car as being near the house when it was burglarized, the evidence of Appellant selling stolen property shortly after the burglary and the inconsistent stories given by Appellant as to how he acquired the property was sufficient to survive the directed verdict motion. (R. p. 157, lines 9-22). The judge denied the directed verdict motion stating, "In looking at State v. Rogers, it clearly states that if there is any direct evidence or of there is substantial circumstantial evidence that reasonably tends to prove the defendant's guilt that it is then a jury question. I think there is a host of circumstantial evidence that meets that standard, so I think it is a question for the jury and I deny your Motion." (R. p. 157, line 23 – p. 158, lines 1-7).

Appellant renewed the directed verdict motion at the close of the defense case (R. p. 267, lines 3-7) and moved for a new trial when the jury returned the verdicts. (R. p. 327, lines 19-20). Both motions were denied. The trial judge erred in refusing to direct a verdict of acquittal when the State failed to present substantial circumstantial evidence which reasonably tended to prove or evidence from which it could be fairly and logically deduced that Appellant committed a burglary first degree and grand larceny.

The State's case was based entirely on circumstantial evidence. "A case should be submitted to the jury when the evidence is circumstantial 'if there is any substantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the accused or from which his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced.'" State v. Bostick, 392 S.C. 134, 139, 708 S.E.2d 774, 776 (2011) (quoting State v. Mitchell, 341 S.C. 406, 409, 535 S.E.2d 126, 127 (2000)). At trial Investigator Grubbs admitted that there was no forensic evidence placing Appellant inside Golson's home and no eyewitness places Appellant in the red car seen by the neighbor. (R. p. 115, lines 11-21). The State presented the following circumstantial evidence at trial: 1.) Appellant sold stolen property shortly after the burglary; 2.) the neighbor saw a red car in the neighborhood on the day of the burglary and Appellant owned a red car; 3.) Appellant knew Golson, knew where he lived, knew his schedule and knew that he kept his dog locked up when he was away; 4.) inconsistent statements about the origin of the guns; 5.) Golson's Facebook page was viewed on the computer at Appellant's house in the early morning before the burglary; 6.) an e-mail about insufficient bank funds; and 7.) cell phone records indicating Appellant's cell phone remained behind in the Old Spartanburg Road area and not at Lake Keowee. This evidence, at best, merely raises a suspicion that Appellant received stolen property. The evidence was not sufficient to submit the burglary first degree and grand larceny charges to the jury.

The present case is easily distinguished from State v. Rogers, 405 S.C. 554, 568, 748 S.E.2d 265, 273 (Ct. App. 2013), the case cited by the trial judge when he denied the motion for directed verdict. In Rogers the State presented fifteen separate pieces of substantial circumstantial evidence placing the defendant at the scene of the crime and committing the murder. In the present case, the seven pieces of circumstantial evidence relied upon by the State, considered collectively, as a whole, fail to place Appellant inside the house committing a burglary and larceny.

In State v. Bennett, 415 S.C. 232, 235–36, 781 S.E.2d 352, 353–54 (2016), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote: “On appeal from the denial of a directed verdict, this Court views the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State.” State v. Butler, 407 S.C. 376, 381, 755 S.E.2d 457, 460 (2014).” In State v. Pearson, 415 S.C. 463, 469–70, 783 S.E.2d 802, 805–06 (2016), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

“[W]hen the State fails to produce substantial circumstantial evidence that the defendant committed a particular crime, the defendant is entitled to a directed verdict.” State v. Odems, 395 S.C. 582, 586, 720 S.E.2d 48, 50 (2011); see Hepburn, 406 S.C. at 429, 753 S.E.2d at 408 (“In cases where the State has failed to present evidence of the offense charged, a criminal defendant is entitled to a directed verdict.”). Further, when the State relies exclusively on circumstantial evidence and a motion for a directed verdict is made, the trial judge is concerned with the existence or non-existence of evidence, not with its weight. Cherry, 361 S.C. at 594, 606 S.E.2d at 478. The trial judge “should not refuse to grant the directed verdict motion when the evidence merely raises a suspicion that the accused is guilty.” Id. “ ‘Suspicion’ implies a belief or opinion as to guilt based upon facts or circumstances which do not amount to proof.” Id. “However, a trial judge is not required to find that the evidence infers guilt to the exclusion of *any other reasonable hypothesis.*” State v. Ballenger, 322 S.C. 196, 199, 470 S.E.2d 851, 853 (1996) (emphasis added).

Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, the State failed to present evidence that Appellant committed a burglary first degree and grand larceny. The evidence merely raises a suspicion. The facts and circumstances presented by the State do not amount to

proof of the crime charged. The present case is distinguished from Bennett and Pearson. In Bennett the defendant's fingerprint was found at the scene of the burglary. In Pearson the defendant's fingerprint was found on a car that fled the crime scene. In both cases there were alternative explanations, inconsistent with guilt, as to why the fingerprints were found at the scene of the crime. In both cases the Court found that the trial judge correctly denied the motion for directed verdict because the trial judge was not required to find that the evidence presented by the State inferred guilt to the exclusion of any other reasonable, alternative hypothesis.

In contrast, in the present case, Appellant's fingerprint was not found at the scene of the burglary. The State presented no evidence to establish Appellant was inside the home committing a burglary and grand larceny. The testimony that a red car was seen near the house at the time of the burglary combined with the fact that Appellant owned a red car was not sufficient to place Appellant inside the home. None of the other circumstantial evidence presented by the State places Appellant inside the home committing a burglary and grand larceny. As stated above, the circumstantial evidence, at best, merely raises a suspicion that Appellant received stolen property.

In State v. Frazier, 386 S.C. 526, 532, 689 S.E.2d 610, 613 (2010), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

Frazier cites to State v. Arnold, 361 S.C. 386, 605 S.E.2d 529 (2004), State v. Martin, 340 S.C. 597, 533 S.E.2d 572 (2000), and State v. Schrock, 283 S.C. 129, 322 S.E.2d 450 (1984) for the proposition that the trial court must grant a directed verdict if the State fails to present evidence placing the defendant at the scene of the crime. In our view, Frazier overstates the holdings in these cases. In Arnold, Martin, and Schrock we held that the State did not produce substantial circumstantial evidence of the defendant's guilt and noted that the State presented *no* evidence that the defendant was at the scene. We reject any interpretation that these cases altered or increased the sufficiency of evidence standard a trial court is to apply in a case based on circumstantial evidence. In this case, unlike Arnold, Martin, and Schrock, the State offered substantial circumstantial evidence of Frazier's guilt.

The circumstantial evidence presented by the State in Frazier included, among other things, the fact that two witness observed Frazier lurking around the murder scene prior to the murder and both identified Frazier in a photo line-up. As in Arnold, Martin, and Schrock, in the present case the State did not produce substantial circumstantial evidence of Appellant's guilt and the State presented no evidence that Appellant was at the scene. No witness observed Appellant near the home that was burglarized. The evidence in the present case, unlike the evidence in Frazier, was insufficient to submit the case to the jury.