STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Greenville County
Honorable Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2017-001859

RECEIVED
OCT 26 2018
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

CHRISTIAN ARENSON SCOWCROFT,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

WILLIAM W. WILKINS, III
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 East North Street, Suite 325
Greenville County Courthouse
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 467-8282

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

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

ARGUMENT

The trial judge correctly denied Appellant's directed verdict motion because the substantial circumstantial evidence presented during trial, which included evidence demonstrating Appellant sold the victim's property mere hours after it was stolen from the victim's home, rationally and logically established Appellant's guilt for all the required elements of first-degree burglary and grand larceny.

Appellant contends the trial judge reversibly erred by refusing to grant a directed verdict motion during trial. In support of that contention, Appellant maintains the circumstantial evidence presented during trial raised a mere suspicion he was guilty of the charged offenses. To the contrary, substantial circumstantial evidence was presented during trial establishing: (1) the victim's home was burglarized and property with an appraised value of over \$2,000 was stolen; (2) Appellant was in possession of the property only hours after it was taken in the break-in; and (3) Appellant quickly sold the property for far less than it was worth. Although that was not the only evidence of Appellant's guilt presented during trial, the jury could rationally and logically find Appellant guilty of the indicted offenses from those facts alone. Under those circumstances, the trial judge was required to deny the directed verdict motion in Appellant's case, and he committed no conceivable error by carrying out that duty. Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). On appeal from the denial of a directed verdict, the appellate court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State. State v. Weston, 367 S.C. 279, 292, 625 S.E.2d 641, 648 (2006). If there is any direct evidence or substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, the appellate court must affirm the trial judge's ruling. State v. Cherry, 361 S.C. 588,

593-594, 606 S.E.2d 475, 478 (2004). In other words, “unless there is a total failure of evidence tending to establish the charge laid in the indictment, the trial judge’s ruling upon a motion for a directed verdict must stand absent an error of law.” State v. Nix, 288 S.C. 492, 496, 343 S.E.2d 627, 629 (Ct. App. 1986); see also Crawford v. United States, 375 F.2d 332, 334 (D.C. Cir. 1967) (“It is not the function of appellate judges to weigh the evidence and decide that if they had doubts other reasonable persons were compelled to have the same doubts. If that were the test the jury of twelve would be relegated to the very low grade function of secondary fact finders.”).

ANALYSIS

When presented with a motion for a directed verdict challenging the sufficiency of the evidence presented, the question before the trial judge is simply whether any rational juror could find the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt from the evidence viewed in a light most favorable to the State. State v. Bennett, 415 S.C. 232, 237, 781 S.E.2d 352, 354 (2016); see Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 319 (1979) (“[T]he relevant question is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, *any* rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.”). In resolving that question, the trial judge must be concerned solely with the existence or non-existence of evidence and is *not* permitted to personally weigh the evidence, decide credibility issues, or resolve conflicts in the testimony or evidence presented. Harvey v. Strickland, 350 S.C. 303, 308, 566 S.E.2d 529, 532 (2002); see State v. Long, 325 S.C. 59, 62, 480 S.E.2d 62, 63 (1997). (“When ruling on a motion for a directed verdict, the trial judge is concerned with the existence of evidence, not its weight.”); see also State v. Ham, 268 S.C. 340, 342, 233 S.E.2d 698, 698 (1977) (“Where the determination of guilt is dependent upon the credibility of the witnesses, a

motion for a directed verdict is properly refused.”); State v. Franklin, 80 S.C. 332, ___, 60 S.E. 953, 955 (1908) (“The orderly administration of justice requires that all proper evidence should be admitted, and the jury must determine the facts, and testimony should be exceedingly clear and without contradiction where a circuit judge assumes to direct a verdict.”).

Significantly, if there is *any* direct or substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused or from which guilt may be fairly or logically deduced, the trial judge should deny a directed verdict motion and submit the case to the jury. State v. Robinson, 310 S.C. 535, 538, 426 S.E.2d 317, 319 (1992); see State v. Littlejohn, 228 S.C. 324, 329, 89 S.E.2d 924, 926 (1955) (“[O]n a motion for direction of verdict, the trial judge is concerned with the existence or non-existence of evidence, not with its weight; and, although he should not refuse to grant the motion where the evidence merely raises a suspicion that the accused is guilty, it is his duty to submit the case to the jury if there be any substantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the accused, or from which his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced.”); see also Crawford, 375 F.2d at 334 (“The jury question of whether there was proof of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt presents a stricter or higher standard than the trial court’s consideration of whether there is sufficient evidence to allow the jury to find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, and it rests in the unreviewable ratiocinations of twelve reasonable persons whose deliberations are protected by the highest security.”). By doing so under such circumstances, the trial judge correctly avoids improperly encroaching upon the jury’s exclusive role to find the facts, weigh the evidence, evaluate witness credibility, and resolve any evidentiary conflicts that may have arisen during trial. See Jackson, 443 U.S. at 319 (“[The directed verdict] standard gives full play to the responsibility of the trier of fact fairly to resolve conflicts in the testimony, to weigh the evidence, and to draw reasonable inferences from basic

facts to ultimate facts.”); see also Watson v. Ford Motor Co., 389 S.C. 434, 445, 699 S.E.2d 169, 174-175 (2010) (“The jury serves as the fact finder and is charged with the duty of weighing the evidence admitted at trial and reaching a verdict. . . . [I]t is exclusively within the jury’s province to decide how much weight the evidence deserves.”).

In the case sub judice, Appellant was charged and tried for first-degree burglary and grand larceny. In order to establish the offense of first-degree burglary, the State must prove the defendant: (1) entered the dwelling of another; (2) without consent; (3) with the intent to commit a crime therein; (4) with at least one aggravating circumstance present. State v. Cross, 323 S.C. 41, 43, 448 S.E.2d 569, 570 (Ct. App. 1994); see S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-311(A) (defining the elements of first-degree burglary, which requires proof of a non-consensual entry of dwelling with the intent to commit a crime therein along with proof of the existence of an aggravating circumstances, including the perpetrator was armed with a deadly weapon or explosive while effecting entry, while inside the dwelling, or while immediately fleeing from the dwelling). Likewise, in order to establish the offense of grand larceny, the State must prove the defendant: (1) feloniously took and carried away the goods of another; (2) that had a value in excess of \$2,000; (3) against the owner’s will or without the owner’s consent. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-13-30(B); see State v. Condrey, 349 S.C. 184, 191, 562 S.E.2d 320, 323 (Ct. App. 2002) (“Larceny is the felonious taking and carrying away of the goods of another against the owner’s will or without his consent.”); see also State v. Roof, 196 S.C. 204, 209, 12 S.E.2d 705, 707 (1941) (“In common parlance[,] larceny is just plain stealing[.]”). Critically, in such cases, the existence of proof the defendant was in possession of recently-stolen property supports an inference the defendant was the person who committed the charged burglary or larceny and creates a question of fact *for the jury to resolve*. State v. Lyles, 211 S.C. 334, 339, 45 S.E.2d 181, 183 (1947); see

State v. Goodson, 225 S.C. 418, 425, 82 S.E.2d 804, 807 (1954) (instructing recent possession of stolen property can constitute evidence of participation in a burglary); see also State v. Cooper, 279 S.C. 301, 302, 306 S.E.2d 598, 599 (1983) (instructing the inference to be drawn from recent possession of stolen property is an evidentiary fact as opposed to a rebuttable presumption and constitutes circumstantial evidence of guilt).

Notably, in State v. DeWitt, 254 S.C. 527, 529, 176 S.E.2d 143, 144 (1970), our Supreme Court recognized and addressed the significance evidence of recent possession of stolen property holds for purposes of resolving a directed verdict issue. In that case, DeWitt was arrested after officers discovered a grain drill that had been stolen from a farm *two months earlier* in his possession. Id. Following his arrest, DeWitt claimed he had purchased the grain drill from another man after it was stolen, and testimony was subsequently presented during trial corroborating DeWitt's claim. Id. at 532; 176 S.E.2d at 145-146. Nonetheless, DeWitt was convicted and appealed, arguing the evidence presented was insufficient to sustain his conviction. Id. at 529, 176 S.E.2d at 144-145. On appeal, the Supreme Court affirmed DeWitt's conviction. Id. at 534, 176 S.E.2d at 147. In reaching that decision, the Supreme Court determined the evidence of DeWitt's possession of the stolen property was sufficient to submit the case to the jury because DeWitt's theft of the grain drill was reasonably inferable under the circumstances despite the fact the grain drill had been stolen two months earlier. Id. at 533, 176 S.E.2d at 146-147.

Similarly, in State v. Irvin, 270 S.C. 539, 542, 243 S.E.2d 195, 196 (1978), Irvin and an accomplice were arrested and charged with housebreaking and grand larceny after a person found to be in possession of property taken in a home invasion approximately one month earlier informed the police he had purchased the stolen property from Irvin and the accomplice. During

trial, no direct evidence of Irvin and his accomplice's guilt was presented, but the evidence and testimony introduced by the State established the following facts: (1) the victim's home was broken into and his property was taken; (2) Irvin and his accomplice sold the victim's property to another person for less than the property's actual value; and (3) the victim's property was seen in Irvin and his accomplice's car on one earlier occasion. Id. Despite the lack of any direct evidence, the trial judge denied Irvin and his accomplice's directed verdict motion, and they were convicted. Id. They then appealed their convictions, arguing the trial judge erred in denying their directed verdict motion because the evidence allegedly only raised a mere suspicion of their guilt. Id. at 543, 243 S.E.2d at 196-197. Thereafter, the Supreme Court affirmed their convictions, instructing the testimony establishing the housebreaking and larceny occurred coupled with the testimony establishing Irvin and his accomplice were in possession of the victim's property "formed a sufficient basis from which [Irvin and his accomplice's] guilt could be fairly and logically deduced, thus requiring the submission of the case to the jury." Id. at 543, 243 S.E.2d at 197.

In the case at bar, evidence and testimony was presented during trial establishing: (1) a rifle, a shotgun, a Playstation 3 system, and various other items were stolen from the victim's residence after someone forced entry into that home; (2) Appellant, who knew the victim and had previously been to his house, was in possession of the victim's rifle and a Playstation 3 system just a few hours after the break-in occurred; and (3) Appellant personally sold the rifle and Playstation 3 system on the same day those items were stolen for roughly \$354 even though the appraised value of those items was much, much higher. Cf. State v. Baker, 208 S.C. 195, 200, 37 S.E.2d 525, 527 (1946) (finding a directed verdict motion was properly denied based on the defendant's possession of recently-stolen goods), abrogated on other grounds by State v.

Grippon, 327 S.C. 79, 489 S.E.2d 462 (1997). Based on Appellant's recent possession of items stolen in a residential break-in and sale of the property for far less than its actual value, the jury could fairly and logically find—and did ultimately find—Appellant guilty of breaking into the victim's home with unlawful intent and stealing the victim's property, which had an appraised value over \$2,000, without his consent. See McNamara v. Henkel, 226 U.S. 520, 525 (1913) (“Possession of [recently-stolen property] in these circumstances tended to show guilty participation in the burglary. This is but to accord the evidence, if unexplained, its natural probative force.”); State v. Miller, 287 S.C. 280, 284, 337 S.E.2d 883, 886 (1985) (finding Miller's recent possession of stolen property was “competent circumstantial evidence of larceny” and further finding the fact Miller sold the stolen property for a fraction of its actual value supported the jury's guilty verdict); State v. Hamilton, 77 S.C. 383, 385, 57 S.E. 1098, 1099 (1907) (“The possession of stolen property, coupled with a sale of it at much less than its value, is certainly some evidence from which guilt may be inferred.”); see also Barnes v. United States, 412 U.S. 837, 845-846 (1973) (approving of a jury instruction allowing for the jury to infer the defendant's guilt from his unexplained possession of recently-stolen property and recognizing common sense and experience support such an inference).

Critically, based on the evidence of Appellant's possession of recently-stolen property taken in a burglary, substantial circumstantial was presented during trial requiring the submission of the case to the jury. Cf. Irvin, 270 S.C. at 543, 243 S.E.2d at 197 (“The testimony of [the victim] as to the occurrences of the housebreaking and larceny together with the testimony of [other witnesses] as to appellants' possession of the stolen tape player formed a sufficient basis from which appellants' guilt could be fairly and logically deduced, thus requiring the submission of the case to the jury.”). However, that was *not* the only evidence of Appellant's guilt presented

during trial. To the contrary, additional testimony was presented linking Appellant's vehicle to the scene of the break-in around the time it occurred, and the description of the suspect as a lanky white man of average height was generally consistent with Appellant's appearance. See State v. Lane, 410 S.C. 505, 506-507, 765 S.E.2d 557, 557-558 (2014) (concluding Lane's directed verdict motion was properly denied during trial where, amongst other things, evidence was presented linking Lane to a vehicle observed at the scene of a burglary); see also State v. Martin, 403 S.C. 19, 31, 742 S.E.2d 42, 48 (Ct. App. 2013) (recognizing the fact Martin's appearance at the time of the crime was consistent with eyewitness descriptions of the bank robber constituted competent evidence of his guilt). Additionally, Donahue—the individual identified by Appellant as likely being responsible for the crimes—testified he had never been to the victim's home at any point, which constituted direct evidence from which the jury could conclude he was not the one who committed the break-in. Cf. State v. Strickland, 389 S.C. 210, 215, 697 S.E.2d 681, 684 (Ct. App. 2010) (“Father’s contrary testimony created an issue of credibility and, at least, created a situation where the State produced enough evidence to survive a directed verdict motion.”). Furthermore, testimony and evidence was presented demonstrating Appellant altered his appearance by getting a haircut subsequent to the break-in, evidence regarding the suspicious activity conducted on Appellant's computer was introduced, and Appellant's divergent accounts of how he came to be in possession of the victim's property along with the numerous other inconsistent statements he made both prior to and during trial were presented to the jury, which all constituted evidence supporting an inference of his guilt. See State v. McDowell, 266 S.C. 508, 515, 224 S.E.2d 889, 892 (1976) (“As a general rule, any guilty act, conduct, or statements on the part of the accused are admissible as some evidence of consciousness of guilt.”); see also United States v. Carr, 373 F.3d 1350, 1353 (D.C. Cir. 2004)

(recognizing evidence establishing a defendant changed his appearance after a crime can support an inference the defendant did so to avoid identification and can constitute evidence of consciousness of guilt); cf. State v. Butler, 407 S.C. 376, 382, 755 S.E.2d 457, 460 (2014) (“[A]s the trial court recognized when ruling on the directed verdict motion, [Butler]’s various, inconsistent accounts of how the stabbing occurred created credibility issues and questions of fact to be resolved by the jury.”).

In light of all that substantial circumstantial evidence of Appellant’s guilt, the jury could logically and rationally find Appellant guilty of both first-degree burglary and grand larceny based on the evidence presented, and, therefore, the trial judge had a duty to deny the directed motion and submit the case to the jury. See State v. Brown, 205 S.C. 514, 520, 32 S.E.2d 825, 827 (1945) (“Where there is any evidence, however slight, on which the jury may justifiably find the existence or the non-existence of material facts in issue, or if the evidence is of such character that different conclusions as to such facts reasonably may be drawn therefrom, the issues should be submitted to the jury.”); see also State v. Al-Amin, 353 S.C. 405, 411, 578 S.E.2d 32, 35 (Ct. App. 2003) (recognizing the trial judge is “required” to submit a case to the jury when substantial evidence is presented reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused or from which the accused’s guilt may be fairly and logically deduced), overruled on other grounds by State v. Broadnax, 414 S.C. 468, 779 S.E.2d 789 (2015). By doing so, the trial judge correctly permitted the jurors in their collective role as the trial’s exclusive fact-finders to weigh the evidence, determine what inferences should be drawn from it, and resolve any credibility issues raised by it. See Ham, 268 S.C. at 342, 233 S.E.2d at 698 (“Where the determination of guilt is dependent upon the credibility of the witnesses, a motion for a directed verdict is properly refused.”); see also State v. Richburg, 250 S.C. 451, 459, 158 S.E.2d 769, 772 (1968)

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